### IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA NO. 22-ICA-34

AMERICAN BITUMINOUS POWER PARTNERS, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership,

ICA EFiled: Dec 05 2022 10:09AM EST Transaction ID 68501996

**Defendant Below, Petitioner,** 

vs.

HORIZON VENTURES OF WEST VIRGINIA, INC., A West Virginia corporation,

Plaintiff Below, Respondent.

#### **BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Marion County – Civil Action No. 18-C-76

#### **III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

- A. Assignment of Error Number 1: The Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment, given the unresolved issues of fact that remain.
- B. Assignment of Error Number 2: The Circuit Court's orders fail to reflect the arguments and proceedings below and, as such, create an obvious injustice.

#### **.IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### Factual Background.

On or about June 25, 1987, Horizon Ventures of West Virginia, Inc. (Horizon), and American Bituminous Power Partners, LP (AMBIT) entered the Contract and Agreement (consulting agreement) that is the subject of this civil action. As recounted by West Virginia's Supreme Court of Appeals, AMBIT paid the consulting fee of \$50,000 every year from 1987 until 2018, at which time, for the first time, AMBIT refused to pay.<sup>1</sup> In so refusing and all times since, AMBIT has asserted that Horizon breached the consulting agreement in 2013.<sup>2</sup> Nonetheless, AMBIT waited, paid the fees from 2013 through 2017, when AMBIT's belief in the breach was confirmed by Court Order.<sup>3</sup> Upon the next payment due date after that August 31, 2017, Order (that found that Horizon had filed suit in violation of contract terms),<sup>4</sup> AMBIT declined to pay the consulting fee and wrote to Horizon, referencing the 2013 litigation and, more specifically, related behaviors, and explaining its dissatisfaction.<sup>5</sup> In that January 27, 2018, letter, AMBIT advised Horizon that they could not work together further, thus notifying Horizon

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Horizon Ventures of West Virginia, Inc., v. American Bituminous Power Partners, LP, 245 W. Va. 1, 4, 857 S.E.2d 33, 36 (2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> AgreedApp000015, -32, -34, -83, -133, -174.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> AgreedApp0000034, -83.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> AgreedApp000073, -18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> AgreedApp000015; *Horizon*, 245 W. Va. at 5, 857 S.E.2d at 37.

of the breach and seeking to activate the bilateral exit clause in the contract.<sup>67</sup> In response, Horizon filed suit based solely on AMBIT's failure to pay and has prosecuted this claim on that sole basis.<sup>8</sup> By and through Horizon's response to the January 2018 request and the course of this resultant litigation, AMBIT has learned that Horizon will never allow AMBIT to leave this relationship.<sup>9</sup> AMBIT has defended this claim on imprecisions in the contract itself and on Horizon's unprofessional behaviors and disloyal acts from 2013 to the present that constitute the first breach.<sup>10</sup> Simply stated, AMBIT can no longer use Horizon in the manner outlined by the agreement (material breach), and, therefore, AMBIT should be released from the annual fee.

Horizon and AMBIT have had a long, complex, and often contentious history.<sup>11</sup> Nonetheless, the parties agree that, at least initially, the four principals who comprise Horizon had expertise – thereto, the consulting agreement based thereon. The principals allegedly had ties to business, coal, state government, the law – so it was realistic to believe that Horizon by and through them could "provide expertise and consulting services within its field,"<sup>12</sup> that by and through them, Horizon could provide meaningful input on "locating, permitting, licensing, developing, maintaining and operating power plants." AMBIT asserts that Horizon's expertise was a basic assumption upon which the contract was made.<sup>13</sup> However, AMBIT further alleges that Horizon's positions taken relative to AMBIT in intervening litigations demonstrate, *inter alia*, Horizon's ignorance on *inter alia* fuel and other industry issues, Horizon's disregard for AMBIT (including Horizon's assertions before the PSC that AMBIT is dishonest, conniving,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> AgreedApp000015; Horizon, 245 W. Va. at 5, 857 S.E.2d at 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> AgreedApp000015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> AgreedApp000003.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> AgreedApp000274..

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> AgreedApp000015, -32, -34, -83, -133, -174.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See, e.g., Horizon Ventures of West Virginia, Inc., v. American Bituminous Power Partners, 873 S.E.2d 905 (2022 W. Va. Lexis 285) (4.18.22).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> AgreedApp000257.AgreedApp000006, -257. 325-26, -355, -366.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See, e.g., AgreedApp000137.

untrustworthy and potentially felonious) and Horizon's demonstrated failure of expertise, including its admissions against interest at deposition, make it impracticable, if not impossible, for Horizon to serve as advisor/consultant to AMBIT by the consulting (or any) standard.<sup>14</sup> Argues AMBIT, it is no longer possible to have Horizon speak for it in any consulting or other capacity, as Horizon's disregard and disrespect for AMBIT are now public within the industry and render Horizon ineffective to serve by any standard, including the consulting standard set in this case.<sup>15</sup>

In 2019, this civil action was resolved by summary disposition, when the Circuit Court found that the contract itself was substantively unconscionable and violative of public policy.<sup>16</sup> Horizon appealed that resolution on the basis that both substantive and procedural unconscionability are necessary under West Virginia law,<sup>17</sup> and AMBIT defended on *inter alia* the bases that it had raised both types and that both parties had applied as a matter of fact and law.<sup>18</sup> In support of AMBIT's position, it bears note that Horizon defended the initial claim on the basis that the parties were sophisticated businesspersons, such that they all knew what they

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> AgreedApp000134, -331, -359, -377, -406.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> AgreedApp000134, - 174.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Horizon, 245 W. Va. at 8-9, 857 S.E.2d at 40-41.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> AMBIT also placed before the Supreme Court a succession of West Virginia cases so holding from a 1902 case (*Lowther Oil v. Guffey*, 52 W. Va. 88, 92, 43 S.E.2d 101, \_\_\_\_ (1902), that "The manacles were forged by the lessors themselves with their eyes open, and the court cannot remove them unless fraud can be shown or the contract is so unfair and uneven as to render its enforcement equivalent to the perpetration of fraud upon the lessors. It is claimed that this is a case of such character because the lessee by the prompt payment of the non-forfeiture sum could perpetually prevent the development of the land for oil and gas."). AMBIT further relied upon *inter alia* Syl pt. 9, *Dan Ryan Builders v. Nelson*, 230 W. Va. 281, 737 S.E.2d 550 (2012); *Iafolla v. Douglas Pocahontas Coal Corp.*, 162 W. VA. 489, 498, 250 S.E.2d 128, 134 (1978).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Both below and on appeal, AMBIT argued procedural unconscionability in no meeting of the minds in reliance in pertinent part upon *Blackrock Capital Investment Corp. v. Fish,* 239 W. Va. 89, 799 S.E.2d 520 (2017), for the lack of remedy for breach in the contract and for the fact that procedural unconscionability/failure of meeting of the minds can be found where a contract is so unfavorable that no reasonable person would have entered it, and no reasonable person would try to enforce it. *See Blackrock,* citing *Hume v. United States,* 132 U.S. 406 (1889) ("It may be apparent from the intrinsic nature and subject of the bargain itself; such as no man in his senses and not under delusion would make on the one hand, and as no honest and fair man would accept on the other; which are unequitable and unconscientious bargains.").

were getting into here.<sup>19</sup> The Supreme Court reversed and remanded.<sup>20</sup> Therefore, since remand, AMBIT has defended the case upon Horizon's failures (the first breach) that frustrated the purpose of the consulting agreement, irretrievably changed the circumstances between the parties, rendered any further alliance impracticable and breached the duty of good faith and fair dealing.<sup>21</sup> AMBIT has traced each of these failures to Horizon's adverse actions beginning in 2013, confirmed to be adverse (and a breach of the lease) by the 2017 Court Order,<sup>22</sup> and its related and ancillary failures, unprofessional behaviors, and adverse acts that continue now.<sup>23</sup>

AMBIT has defended its refusal to pay the consulting fee starting in January 2018 based upon the first breach – that is, the reason that, after thirty years, finally, AMBIT refused to pay. In discovery on remand, AMBIT adduced evidence that demonstrated by Horizon's admissions against interest that Horizon breached its consulting duty both pursuant to the express terms of the contract and pursuant to the only consulting standard set in this case: the opinions espoused by AMBIT's designated expert.<sup>24</sup> Horizon prosecuted its case on the fact that AMBIT did not pay in 2018, never focusing or even addressing the 'why' of that non-payment. However, the first breach, if material, is key to the issues before this Court. West Virginia law provides that a material breach that goes to the essence of the contact obviates the need for the unoffending party to comply further<sup>25</sup> -- in sum, the 'why' matters. Before a court or jury can determine

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=t8\_h2MJ7ITQ&t=16307s</u> See Syl. pt. 3, Riggs v. West Virginia Univ. Hosp., 221 W. Va. 646, 656 S.E.2d 91 (2007). Motion for Summary Judgment (11.7.18) at 1, 10, 11. See also Blackrock Capital Inv. Corp. v. Fish, 239 W. Va. 89, 96, 799 S.E.2d 520, 527 (2017), finding that "New York's unconscionability jurisprudence is structured almost identically to West Virginia's." Syl pt. 7, Horizon Ventures of West Virginia, Inc., v. American Bituminous Power Partners, 245 W. Va. 1, 11, 857 S.E.2d 33, 43 (2021).
<sup>20</sup> Horizon Ventures of West Virginia, Inc., v. American Bituminous Power Partners, 245 W. Va. 1, 857 S.E.2d 33 (2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> AgreedApp000083ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> AgreedApp000034.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> AgreedApp000134, 559ff, -641.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> AgreedApp000174. Syl. pt. 6, *Butner v. Highlawn Memorial Park Co.*, \_\_\_\_W. Va. \_\_\_, \_\_\_S.E.2d \_\_\_ (No. 21-0387) (Nov. 17, 2022).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Syl pt. 4, Triple 7 & Commodities, Inc., v. High Country Mining, 245 W. Va. 63, 857 S.E.2d 403 (2021).

whether AMBIT's nonpayment is a meaningful breach, the factfinder must first determine whether Horizon breached the agreement and, if so, whether that breach was material. In focusing on fee due and unpaid (certainly the most basic of facts), Horizon and the Circuit Court failed to ask why, after years of faithful payments whether services were received or not,<sup>26</sup> AMBIT refused to pay. AMBIT's undisputed evidence has been that Horizon breached the agreement in 2013 and continued the behaviors thereafter<sup>27</sup> (the first breach<sup>28</sup>). AMBIT asserts that Horizon initially breached the agreement in 2013 and that the intervening consecutive breaches of consulting standards generally are all material and go to the essence of the contract.<sup>29</sup>

The instant appeal arises from cross motions for summary judgment filed on June 3, 2022.<sup>30</sup> Prior to filing for summary disposition, Horizon moved to call case to trial,<sup>31</sup> and, as a result, the parties selected a jury on June 23, 2022.<sup>32</sup> Before the motions were argued, before any order was entered, the jury was in the box upon Horizon's motion, and this matter was first up for trial on August 24, 2022. Nonetheless, Horizon filed its Motion for Summary Judgment, arguing that AMBIT had no evidence to support its affirmative defenses.<sup>33</sup> AMBIT filed its Motion for Summary Judgment, citing the same law as Horizon but providing transcripts of sworn testimony and the opinions of its designated expert in support of its affirmative defenses.<sup>34</sup> Horizon alleged that AMBIT's affirmative defenses were baseless, without support in the record, and AMBIT alleged that its evidence was undisputed such that summary disposition in AMBIT's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> AgreedApp000559, -681.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> AgreedApp000133ff, -174, -641, -274.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Triple 7 & Commodities, Inc., v. High Country Mining, 245 W. Va. 63, 73, 857 S.E.2d 403, 413 (2021), quoting *Blue v. Hazel Atlas Glass Col*, 106 W. Va. 642, 650, 147 S.E. 22, 26 (1939) ("The party to a contract is guilty of the first breach who fails to do what he contractually is bound to do.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> AgreedApp000133..

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> See, e.g., AgreedApp000134.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> AgreeApp000184.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> AgreedApp000544.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> AgreedApp000187.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> AgreedApp000231.

favor was the necessary and proper resolution. The parties were arguing the same issues, the same law – but different evidence.<sup>35</sup> At that moment, the parties had a factual dispute that the Court could not and should not have tried to resolve.<sup>36</sup>

Legal and factual issues and/or errors were evident in this process and were reflected and amplified in and by the Final Order. In its response to AMBIT's motion, Horizon conceded that 'factual fictions' remain – which it goes on to identify as facts with which Horizon disagrees.<sup>37</sup> If the parties are arguing disputed facts at summary judgment – including facts as to the scope of the duties and whether expertise is required by the contract or available from Horizon – then genuine issues of material fact remain. AMBIT noted as much in its Trial Court Rule 24.01 analysis, which addresses the factual discrepancies and remaining issues no fewer than 17 times.<sup>38</sup> The issue is not who is right about the facts. The issue is that the matter was not ripe for summary disposition, and AMBIT expressly advised the Court that genuine issues of fact remain that needed adjudication by a jury.<sup>39</sup> West Virginia's Supreme Court has recently termed this moment where the trial court is considering summary disposition as "'put up or shut up' time,"<sup>40</sup> and AMBIT put up the factual issues that had been adduced during motions practice, including citations to the record – most pointedly, sworn testimony of the parties themselves.<sup>41</sup>

Whereas in motions practice, Horizon has relied upon the Supreme Court's admonition

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Waddy v. Riggleman, 216 W. Va. 380, 606 S.E.2d 222 (2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Teller v. McCoy, 162 W. Va. 367, 392, 253 S.E.2d 114, 129 (1978). See also W. Va. RCP 59(d); syl. pt. 8, Benson v. AJR, Inc., 226 W. Va. 165, 169, 698 S.E.2d 638, 642 (2010):

It is not the right or province of a court to alter, pervert or destroy the clear meaning and intent of the parties as expressed in unambiguous language in their written contract or to make a new or different contract for them." Syl. pt.3, *Cotiga Development Co. v. United Fuel*, 147 W. Va. 484 128 S.E.2d 626 (1962).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Agreedapp000522. Sadler v. Nationwide, 2012 W. Va. Lexis 544 (2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> AgreedApp000641.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup>AgreedApp000656, stating that "Horizon's motion must be denied on the basis that, for its case, genuine issues of material fact remain that would have needed adjudication by a jury."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Butner v. Highlawn Memorial Park Co., \_\_\_\_W. Va. \_\_\_, \_\_\_S.E.2d \_\_\_ (No. 21-0387) (Nov. 17, 2022) at 20-21. <sup>41</sup> AgreedApp000651, -653, -593ff.

that "decisions on summary judgment before completion of discovery are 'precipitous,"<sup>42</sup> it bears noting that, on remand, Horizon (the plaintiff) conducted no discovery whatsoever. Conversely, AMBIT deposed each of Horizon's principals on Horizon's acts and behaviors that constituted breach from 2013 to present. By and through the motions hearing - for the first time in this remanded litigation - the factual disputes between the parties became evident. As demonstrated *inter alia* by the motions hearing<sup>43</sup> and as reflected in Horizon's proposed order (the current Final Order Granting Horizon's Motion for Summary Judgment<sup>44</sup>), factual issues remained then and now that the factfinders needed to hear, consider, and resolve. The parties disagreed even about the operative provisions of the contract, the parties' motives for entering the contract, the essence of the contract, and Horizon's duty thereunder.<sup>45</sup> As of that motions hearing held on June 24, 2022, the matter was ripe solely for the jury's determination. Nonetheless, the Circuit Court took it under advisement and instructed the parties to prepare proposed orders. The parties submitted proposed orders that differed substantially. The Circuit Court entered Horizon's Order without substantial revision or amendment, despite AMBIT's substantial analysis of each point, including the genuine issues of material fact remaining.<sup>46</sup>

Equally problematic under West Virginia law, Horizon's proposed order 47 failed to reflect AMBIT's evidence or arguments – rather characterizing AMBIT's case as baseless but never reflecting the substance. In its proposed order, AMBIT identified the remaining questions of fact raised through the hearing. Because Horizon had conducted no discovery and because Horizon denied that AMBIT's evidence exists or is credible, this matter needed the factfinder's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup>AgreedApp000189, quoting Horizon Ventures of West Virginia, Inc., v. American Bituminous Power Partners, LP, 245 W. Va. 1, 5, 857 S.E.2d 33, 37(2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> AgreedApp000558ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> AgreedApp000544.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Agreedapp000134, -540.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> AgreedApp000641ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Butner v. Highlawn Memorial Park Co., W. Va. \_\_\_, S.E.2d \_\_\_ (No. 21-0387) (Nov. 17, 2022) at 20-21. **7** 

assistance. Horizon never challenged the authenticity of AMBIT's evidence or its expert's opinions, such that those standards remained available and appropriate for jury determination.<sup>48</sup> As a matter of law and through the dispositive motions practice, this matter was demonstrated as unripe for the Circuit Court's determination of summary disposition.<sup>49</sup>

Beyond the Court's inappropriate resolution as a matter of law while factual issues remain in dispute, AMBIT was further prejudiced by the Final Order itself, which failed fairly to reflect AMBIT's case, and failed to reflect AMBIT's rebuttal to Horizon's claims<sup>50</sup> Given the tenets of West Virginia law that make it incumbent on a party to request and develop an order that reflects the true proceedings and each party's case before the Court,<sup>51</sup> AMBIT filed its critique of Horizon's proposed order, identifying the numerous factual and legal errors in the Final Order (and that remain) and identifying Horizon's failure to reflect AMBIT's case accurately or, more pointedly, at all.<sup>52</sup> Indeed, in direct contravention of West Virginia law, the Final Order as drafted by Horizon and entered by the Circuit Court does not fairly demonstrate AMBIT's case, evidence, arguments.<sup>53</sup> Nonetheless, the Circuit Court entered the Final Order reflect its evidence and arguments; the Circuit Court entered its Order Denying AMBIT's Motion to Alter, Amend Judgment on August 4, 2022.<sup>54</sup>

The Final Order and the proceedings below at motions practice demonstrate unresolved

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Syl. pt, 6, *Butner v. Highlawn Memorial Park Co.*, \_\_ W. Va. \_\_, \_\_ S.E.2d \_\_\_ (No. 21-0387) (Nov. 17, 2022).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Syl pt. 6, *Butner v. Highlawn Memorial Park Co.*, W. Va. \_\_\_, S.E.2d \_\_\_ (No. 21-0387) (Nov. 17, 2022).
 <sup>50</sup> AgreedApp000679.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Syl. pt. 4, 8, SER Vanderra Res. LLC v. Hummel, 242 W. Va. 35, 829 S.E.2d 35 (2019); syl. pt. 2, Hopkins v. DC Chapman Ventures, 228 W. Va. 213, 719 S.E.2d 381 (2011), quoting syl. pt. 1, Maples v. West Virginia Dep't of Commerce, 197 W.Va. 318, 475 S.E.2d 410 (1996).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> AgreedApp000700.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> CMC Enter., Inc., v. Ken Lowe Mgmt. Co., 206 W. Va. 4141, 418, 525 S.E.2d 295, 299 (1999).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> AgreedApp000710.

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