INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

American Bituminous Power Partners, LP, Defendant Below, Petitioner ICA EFiled: Jan 19 2023 04:57PM EST

Transaction ID 68937518

vs. No. 22-ICA34

Horizon Ventures of West Virginia, Inc. Plaintiff Below, Respondent

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Submitted by:

Mark A. Kepple, Esq.
W. Va. Bar Id. 7470
Benjamin P. Visnic, Esq.
W.Va. Bar Id. 12289
Bailey & Wyant, PLLC
1219 Chapline St.

Wheeling, West Virginia 26003 P: (304) 233-3100 F: (304) 233-0201

Email: mkepple@baileywyant.com

Joseph G. Nogay, Esq. W. Va. Bar Id. 2743 Sellitti Nogay & Nogay, PLLC P.O. Box 3095 Weirton, WV 26062

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

AMBIT's "expert" complaint is particularly specious and evinces AMBIT's repeated attempts to push ill-founded arguments before the Court. AMBIT named Kenneth Niemann, its *own executive director*, as an "expert" on how consultants should behave. AgreedApp000175. AMBIT was *outraged* at the hearing that Horizon failed to depose him or show any interest in his opinion, and apparently is still upset that Horizon does not consider him a meaningful part of this litigation. AgreedApp000558, 12:16 – 12:24.

AMBIT spent significant time throughout its Summary Judgment motion, the June 24, 2021, hearing, and the subsequent pleadings, including this one, complaining that Horizon did not depose AMBIT's "witnesses" and did not conduct enough discovery, submit errata sheets, ask

22

⁸ Horizon's counsel felt that any alleged "need" to take Mr. Neimann's deposition was obviated by the clear evidence supporting Horizon's Motion for Summary Judgment and chose not to waste his client's money on the same.

enough questions at depositions of its own witnesses, or whatever other pettifoggery AMBIT is manufacturing outrage about at any given time. See, e.g; Pet'r's Br., pp. 19 - 20.

However, AMBIT's complaints fail to appreciate that all of these depositions attempting to show motive, or expectation, or whatever other manufactured legal issue AMBIT is claiming, do not matter. The Order did not need to reference the 2013 litigation between the parties because it does not matter to the instant case. The Order does not need to reference Horizon's "expert" because he does not matter. The language of the contract is clear and unambiguous. AMBIT did not ask Horizon to perform under the contract. AMBIT refused to pay its bills under the contract. Ergo, AMBIT breached the contract.

iii. AMBIT's assertion that it and Horizon provided the same "legal support" for their positions is incorrect.

AMBIT's brief claims that there were unresolved contractual ambiguities in the agreement which no one discovered until after its Motion for Summary Judgment was denied. This argument also oddly incorporates the case law on impracticability and other legal remedies but is devoid of actual discussion on the topic. AMBIT begins this discussion by misstating the parties' legal submissions to the Court, explaining that "Horizon argued that AMBIT provided no legal support, yet the parties both relied upon the same legal support: *Waddy v. Riggleman*, 216 W. Va. 250, 256, 606 S.E.2d 222, 228 (2004).

While both parties *cited Waddy v. Riggleman*. AgreedApp000195, 000235.⁹ AMBIT is incorrect when it claims that both parties used it for "legal support." It is Horizon's understanding that "legal support" refers to a citation of a legal authority that benefits one's position. AMBIT

23

⁹ AMBIT's citation to AgreedApp000248 and AgreedApp000377 for this point is inaccurate; those citations reference, respectively, a random page in AMBIT's Motion for Summary Judgment consisting of mostly Stanley Sears quotes, and Horizon's Petition to Intervene in a Public Service Commission hearing case. Horizon believes the above citation accurately represents AMBIT's intended targets, but perhaps not.

cites *Waddy* as a prop and does not meaningfully analyze any facts in the case under the appropriate rubric set forth by *Waddy* and the Restatements. *See* AgreedApp000236 – 000249. AMBIT instead dedicated those thirteen (13) pages in its Motion for Summary Judgment insulting Horizon's principals and explaining why *it does not believe* AMBIT could fulfill its contractual obligations. That belief is, of course, irrelevant to any determination of whether Horizon actually *failed* any contractual obligation under *Waddy*.

In contrast, Horizon and the Court, analyzed the rubrics for impracticability, frustration of purpose, and breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing provided in *Waddy* and in the Restatements cited in that case, and therefore provided *legal support* for the position that AMBIT's defenses did not actually apply to the case. *Cf.* AgreedApp000195 – 000206, 000689 – 000697. The Court, whose Order AMBIT maligns as inaccurate, applied the standards of each law to the facts of the case. AMBIT, throughout its dispositive motion responses, motions to reconsider, and this appeal brief, has consistently failed to apply the facts of this case to the actual standards for each of its affirmative defenses, presumably because it cannot do so. The Court was correct when it found this in its initial Order, and nothing AMBIT has presented in its instant appeal undermines the Court's finding.

iv. AMBIT's claim that there are "ambiguities" in the contract is without legal or factual support.

AMBIT next claims that there are "ambiguities" in the contract because AMBIT disagreed about the duties present in the contract. Pet'r's Br., pp. 22 - 23. AMBIT also claims that a factfinder needs to determine whether Horizon is allowed to seek assistance when providing consulting, or whether Horizon is required to do the work itself. *Id.* at 23, ¶ 1. However, there is no meaningful ambiguity present in this agreement. As AMBIT itself noted, both parties agreed that there were no ambiguities in the agreement. *Id.* at 22, ¶ 2. The fact that AMBIT now believes

that there are unlisted duties in the contract related to, *inter alia*, loyalty, kindness, an ability to answer trivia questions in depositions, or whether Horizon can subcontract obligations for which it requires assistance is of no moment.¹⁰ The contract clearly sets forth the agreement, as stated previously:

It is agreed that the Second Party will perform from time to time upon the reasonable request of First Party, such public and governmental relations and liaison functions as are necessary or incident to aiding and assisting First Party in locating, permitting, licensing, developing, maintaining and operating power plants in the State of West Virginia and will further aid in such other ventures as locating coal "gob" and all like coal resources when the same may be needed by First Party.

AgreedApp000007. To the extent that AMBIT is arguing about the definition of "expertise" as set forth in the introduction to the contract, the above section defines what "expertise" Horizon is expected to use. There are no other definitions within the contract, and the contract expressly states that it is the "entire understanding and agreement between the parties." *Id.* AMBIT has no basis to assert that Horizon breached an unambiguous agreement because it failed to complete some unstated duties which are not listed in that agreement.

Moreover, it is not the Court's job to answer theoretical questions about what constitutes an ambiguity in this agreement. The Court's job is to determine whether the contract was breached. It does not matter what duties a provision conveys upon a party if the other party *never asks them to perform those duties under the contract*. The contract at issue does not have any patent or latent ambiguities. The parties' responsibilities are clearly set forth therein. No one was confused about their respective responsibilities for three decades. AMBIT was, apparently, not confused about them until it lost its Motion for Summary Judgment, at which time it "discovered" these

PURPA, or FERC stood for. See AgreedApp000332, 000333, 000358, 000359.

¹⁰ Some examples of AMBIT's highly relevant questions posed in depositions include, but are not limited to, asking Andrew Noshagya whether he knew the current West Virginia Supreme Court justices or the current legislators from "Mariott" (presumably Marion) County, whether Michael Shaw, Jr., read the New York Times, Charleston Gazette, or Coal Age, whether he knew of "any of the current issues for coal-fired plants," or whether he knew what EEPA,

ambiguities. *See* AgreedApp000712 – 000714. As the Court correctly found, AMBIT did not provide evidence that Horizon breached any of its stated responsibilities under the agreement. *See*, *e.g.*, AgreedApp000687 – 000688.¹¹

Finally, AMBIT's attempt to claim that "the Court's factual inquiries exceeded the scope of either parties' motions and led to submission of additional supporting evidence" is patently incorrect. Pet'r's Br., p. 27, ¶ 3. The Court merely asked AMBIT to explain whether it had ever asked Horizon to perform under the contract. *See generally* AgreedApp000547 – 000590. This line of questioning by the Court was entirely proper and should have been expected because it was a focus of Horizon's Motion for Summary Judgment and its Response to AMBIT's Motion for Summary Judgment. *See* AgreedApp000196 – 000197, 000530 – 000531. The fact that AMBIT decided to turn answering this simple, and relevant, question into forty-three (43) transcribed pages of non-responsive argument, is no fault of the Court's. AgreedApp000547 – 000590.

AMBIT's arguments do not comport with the relevant facts and law of this case. The case is simple and straightforward, no matter how much AMBIT convolutes the issues. AMBIT admits it did not ask Horizon to perform under the contract before unilaterally breaching it and failing to pay its bills. It has since then come up with a series of *post hoc* reasons and recharacterizations of its actions which are unsupported by the plain language of the contract and of the facts immediately surrounding that contract, *i.e.*, the letter AMBIT sent Horizon declaring its intent to breach the

_

AMBIT briefly mentions that the Supreme Court "detected" an ambiguity in the contract when it explained that there were disputed facts as to the nature of the consulting agreement. *Horizon Ventures of W. Virginia, Inc. v. Am. Bituminous Power Partners, L.P.*, 245 W. Va. 1, 12, 857 S.E.2d 33, 44, fn. 17 (2021). The court here was discussing how AMBIT failed to meet the summary judgment standard to succeed on its public policy claim because it relied only on Mr. Sears' testimony. The court even specifically explained that it was "assuming without deciding that this evidence is appropriate to construe this consulting agreement." While Mr. Sears' testimony may or may not have been relevant to determine whether the contract was somehow in violation of public policy, it certainly is not relevant to determine whether AMBIT or Horizon breached that contract.

agreement. AMBIT's attempts to add responsibilities to the contract, conjure ambiguities which were not noticed by any party, nor any Court, and blame the Court for not including AMBIT's ancillary arguments in its Order are all *non sequiturs*. AMBIT simply cannot overcome the fact that it did not ask Horizon to perform a contractual duty, before breaching the contract by failing to pay monies it was contractually obligated to pay.

AMBIT's brief sets forth these *non sequiturs* when it argues:

Emblematic in the exchange before the Court that resulted in the Final Order is that Horizon disputed that any breach occurred prior to AMBIT's refusal to pay the consulting fee after faithfully doing so for thirty years. *Horizon argued that AMBIT has not asked for services since 2006, so how would AMBIT know what Horizon can or would do – yet Horizon misses the point.* AMBIT paid for services it never used from 2006 until 2018. Whatever happened to stop those payments was not a fluke, not a one-off – it was Horizon's material breach. Where Horizon argued that Horizon could hire others to do the work, AMBIT countered that this is a personal services contract, entered on the basis of Horizon's expertise, which cannot be assigned. Where AMBIT argued that Horizon's breach of its duty of expertise per the consulting standard set in the case absolved it of any further duty to perform (i.e., pay the fee), Horizon argued that AMBIT had no evidence of any breach. Where Horizon argued that the breach was the failure to pay the fee in 2018, AMBIT argued that the fee was the second breach, justified by the first material breach – Horizon's breach of its consulting duty.

Pet'r's Br., pp. 21 – 22. However, it is AMBIT who is "missing the point." AMBIT appears incapable of understanding is that *Horizon could not have breached any consulting standard without being asked to consult.* AMBIT cannot *ever* succeed on this matter because they did not ask AMBIT to perform a duty under the contract. No matter how many of AMBIT's own executives it tries to classify as a consulting expert, no matter how many depositions it takes where a Horizon official says mean things about AMBIT or forgets a legislator's name, no matter how many false claims about surprise ambiguities or unstated duties it conjures, the *relevant* facts remain the same.

AMBIT did not notify Horizon of any alleged breach of the consulting agreement in 2013. AMBIT did not notify Horizon of any alleged breach of the consulting agreement in 2017. AMBIT admits it did not ask Horizon to perform under the agreement after 2006. AMBIT sent Horizon a letter in 2017 stating that the parties were not getting along, that it believed the consulting agreement was not working out, that it needed the money, and that it was ultimately breaching the contract because it did not feel that the contract had value. AgreedApp000015.

The Court's decision to grant summary judgment to Horizon was and is factually and legally correct.

B. The Circuit Court's Order accurately reflects the relevant arguments and proceedings in the lower Court.

The remainder of AMBIT's brief sets forth the "argument" that "it is impossible to find that the Final Order reflects that the trial court thoughtfully reviewed the evidence presented and that, therefore, those findings of fact are not erroneous." Pet'r's Br., p. 28, ¶ 1. However, this argument does not appear to be a relevant appealable issue – as stated above, if the trial court's Order contains legal errors, then a party can appeal those errors, as AMBIT has done here.

AMBIT's citations claiming that it is entitled to relief simply because it does not like the trial court's Order misrepresents their respective purposes. AMBIT first cites Syl. Pts. 5 and 8 of *State ex rel. Vanderra Res.*, *LLC v. Hummel*, 242 W. Va. 35, 829 S.E.2d 35 (2019) for the principle that "it is incumbent upon litigants to request the type of order necessary to preserve their rights." Pet'r's Br., p. 29, ¶ 1. The actual syllabus points are as follows:

5. "A circuit court's order denying summary judgment on qualified immunity grounds on the basis of disputed issues of material fact must contain sufficient detail to permit meaningful appellate review. In particular, the court must identify those material facts which are disputed by competent evidence and must provide a description of the competing evidence or inferences therefrom giving rise to the dispute which preclude summary disposition." Syllabus Point 4, W. Va. Dep't of Health and Human Resources v. Payne, 231 W. Va. 563, 746 S.E.2d 554 (2013).

8. "A party seeking to petition this Court for an extraordinary writ based upon a non-appealable interlocutory decision of a trial court, must request the trial court set out in an order findings of fact and conclusions of law that support and form the basis of its decision. In making the request to the trial court, counsel must inform the trial court specifically that the request is being made because counsel intends to seek an extraordinary writ to challenge the court's ruling. When such a request is made, trial courts are obligated to enter an order containing findings of fact and conclusions of law. Absent a request by the complaining party, a trial court is under no duty to set out findings of fact and conclusions of law in non-appealable interlocutory orders." Syllabus Point 6, *State ex rel. Allstate v. Gaughan*, 203 W.Va. 358, 508 S.E.2d 75 (1998).

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